ANTIPREDATOR BEHAVIOR AND MORPHOLOGY IN ISOLATED

CYPRINODONT FISHES

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Madison Rushel Snider

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major Program: Environmental and Conservation Sciences

December 2018

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title ANTIPREDATOR BEHAVIOR AND MORPHOLOGY IN ISOLATED

CYPRINODONT FISHES

By

Madison Rushel Snider

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with North Dakota

State University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Craig Stockwell

Chair

Brian Wisenden – Co-Chair

Ned Dochtermann

Marion Harris

Approved:

April 23, 2019

Date

Craig Stockwell

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

For desert fishes in the American Southwest, predation by invasive species has triggered massive population declines for decades, leaving researchers speculating on the underlying cause. It has been shown that Post-Pleistocene isolation of desert fishes in small habitats with limited predation pressure has led to loss of antipredator traits. Determining the status of antipredator behavioral and morphological traits could identify the most vulnerable desert fishes. In aquatic ecosystems, detection and response to chemical alarm cues derived from epithelial tissue increases the probability of predation survival. In chapter two, I evaluate alarm cue responses of two desert cyprinodontids: endangered Pahrump poolfish and Amargosa pupfish. In chapter three, I assess the prevalence and densities of epithelial club cells, the source of chemical alarm cues, for several desert fishes: Pahrump poolfish, Amargosa pupfish, White Sands pupfish, White River Springfish, and Hot Creek Valley tui chub.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis was made possible by numerous people and their love and support for the amazing organisms that are my subjects and for myself. I want to thank the Department of Biological Sciences and Environmental & Conservation Sciences Graduate Program at NDSU, Desert Fishes Council, and the North American Native Fish Association for funding and assistance. I would also like to acknowledge Kevin Guadalupe, James Harter, Steve Parmenter, and the Poolfish RIT for their help in obtaining, maintaining, and conserving these fishes so that I was able to work with them. Support from United State Fish and Wildlife Service and Nevada Department of Wildlife also made this research possible. Laboratory guidance from Dr. Shawn Goodchild was greatly appreciated as keeping these fishes is challenging. Help from Dr. Pawel Bowrowicz and Jordan Flaten made histological processing and imaging easy and exciting. Gratitude also goes to Megan Orr for help with statistics and Shawn Garrett for project guidance. I would also like to thank fellow graduate students Brandon Paulson and Justin Waraniak as well as the numerous undergraduate students (Bailey Gillis, Sarah Overton, Zachary Anderson, Tanner Carlson, Storm Kettlehut) who carried out day to day laboratory operations. Their hard work and love of desert fishes has been critical for completion of my projects.

I want to extend special appreciations to Dr. Craig Stockwell and Dr. Brian Wisenden for serving as mentors and advisers on this amazing journey. Their willingness and excitement to coadvice a student on relative short notice was the greatest encouragement I could have. Their ability to comfort and work with me has helped me develop confidence in my work and myself to become a better scientist. I am also appreciative of the guidance provided by the Graduate Advisory Committee members, Drs. Ned Dochtermann and Marion Harris, for talking the time to provide insights regarding my research.

iv

Finally, without the support of my family, none of this would be possible. Living in Fargo, away from all my family and friends, would never have been imaginable without my mother and father. I will forever be grateful for the hard work and time they have put towards my success and future. My fiancé, Cody Schmelzer, kept me focused all those late nights and showed me that years can go by faster than I thought, especially when doing something I believed in.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to:

The loving memory of my grandfather,

Christy L. Snider

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	vi
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES	xii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Threats to Desert Fishes	1
1.2. Invasive Species Impacts	2
1.3. Variation in Co-Persistence	
1.4. Chemical Alarm Cues and Epithelial Club Cells	4
1.5. References	7
2. CHEMICAL ALARM CUE RESPONSES AND EPIDERMAL HISTOLOGY OF TWO DESERT CYPRINODONTS	14
2.1. Abstract	14
2.2. Introduction	15
2.3. Materials and Methods	17
2.3.1. Behavioral Rearing	17
2.3.2. Production of Test Cues	17
2.3.3. Experimental Set Up and Procedure	
2.3.4. Behavioral Data Collection	19
2.3.5. Sample Preparation for Histological Examination	
2.3.6. Histology Analysis	20
2.4. Results	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.4.1. Behavioral Results	
2.4.2. Histology Results	22
2.5. Discussion	
2.6. References	30
3. PREVALENCE AND DENSITY OF EPIDERMAL CLUB CELLS IN	
3.1. Abstract	
3.2. Introduction	
3.3. Materials and Methods	40
3.3.1. Population Sources	40
3.3.2. Sample Preparation	40
3.3.3. Statistical Analyses	
3.4. Results	
3.4.1. Prevalence	41
3.4.2. Densities	42
3.5. Discussion	45
3.6. References	50
4. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	59
APPENDIX A. PHYSIOLOGICAL STRESS RESPONSES TO ALARM CUES IN ZEBRAFISH (DANIO RERIO)	60
A.1. Methods	60
A.1.1. Rearing	60
A.1.2. Experimental Set Up	60
A.1.3. Cortisol Extraction	61
A.2. Results	62
A.3. References	62

A	APPENDIX B. CLUB CELL DENSITY COMPARISON BETWEEN WILD-TYPE	
A	ND LAB-REARED FATHEAD MINNOWS (PIMEPHALES PROMELAS)	. 64
	B.1. Methods	. 64
	B.1.1. Rearing	. 64
	B.1.2. Sample Preparation and Analysis	. 64
	B.2. Results	. 65
	B.3. References	. 65

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1.	Total number of individuals sacrificed, mean total length, area of skin used for each species, final solution volume, and final concentration of alarm cue are provided.	23
3.1.	Number of samples (N), prevalence (%), and densities (mean ± SE club cells / mm2 of skin) per species.	43
3.2.	Fish orders, number of species examined (N), club cell prevalence within order (percentage of sampled species with club cells), and limited sampling (number of studies with less than 20 individuals or unreported sample sizes) reviewed from literature.	48

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
2.1.	Features of behavioral trial tank. A 5 x 5cm grid was drawn on one side of a 38L glass aquarium and placed on a metal rack. A sponge filter for aeration was placed on the left-hand side of the tank. A black divider was attached to the outside between each tank. A 2.5 m delivery tube was inserted into the top of the sponge filter, attached to either the tank itself or the metal rack, and allowed to hang loose. Treatments were injected via syringes into the delivery tube.	21
2.2.	Mean \pm 1 SE vertical distribution (1 = bottom, 5 = top) between treatment types (control, alarm cue) for zebrafish (a), poolfish (b), and pupfish (c) before (black square) and after (white square) introduction of test stimuli. Asterisk (*) indicates significant differences (p < 0.05).	24
2.3.	Mean \pm 1 SE activity (lines crosses per min) before (black square) and after (white square) introduction of test stimuli for zebrafish (a), poolfish (b), and pupfish (c).	25
2.4.	Club cell prevalence by species. A prevalence of 100% indicates that all samples displayed at least one club cells, whereas 0% indicates that none of the samples of that species exhibited club cells.	26
2.5.	Mean ± 1 SE club cell densities among taxa. Number of samples (N) indicated above each bar.	27
3.1.	Percentage prevalence of club cells by species for sample sizes reported in Table 3.1.	44
3.2.	Mean ± 1 SE club cell densities (club cells / mm2 of skin) among taxa. Letters indicate statistically similar taxa.	44
3.3.	Fish phylogeny depicting orders evaluated for club cell presence. Red boxes indicate orders with less than 100% prevalence and blue boxes indicate orders with 100% prevalence.	49

LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES

Figure		Page
A1.	Mean \pm 1 SE of whole-body cortisol extractions for zebrafish in each treatment type (alarm cue vs control) are shown.	62
B1.	Mean \pm 1 SE comparison of club cell density per mm2 of epithelial tissue between wild-type and lab-reared fathead minnows is shown.	65

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Threats to Desert Fishes

Although known for an arid climate, the western deserts of North America have a unique array of natural aquatic habitats, ranging from freshwater springs to saline creeks with salinities up to three times that of the ocean (Soltz and Naiman 1978). Once connected by vast Pleistocene lakes, these small pools and ponds now rely on underground springs, mountain-fed streams, and rainfall to sustain aquatic life (Soltz and Naiman 1978). Aquatic ecosystems found in these waters are relatively simple, containing various aquatic invertebrates and only a few fish species (Minckley and Deacon 1968; Pister 1974; Minckley and Deacon 1991; Rundel and Gibson 1996). Because these communities often include only a few fish species, they have limited levels of predation and competition by less than a handful of fish predators and competitors (Miller 1948; Pister 1974; Soltz and Naiman 1978; Rundel and Gibson 1996).

Anthropogenic changes to the environment within the last century have led to numerous desert fishes being added to the endangered species list. A major and consistent threat driving these population declines has been the spread of invasive species. Declines and extinctions of many native fishes have been associated with the introduction of various non-native fishes such as largemouth bass (Micopterus salmoides) and the western mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis) (Miller 1961; Hubbs and Brodrick 1963; Deacon et al. 1964; Pister 1974; Meffe et al. 1983; Stockwell and Henkanaththegedara 2011). For example, extinction of the Monkey Springs pupfish (Cyprinodon arcuatus) coincided with the un-authorized introduction of largemouth bass (Minckley and Marsh 2009). Similarly, western mosquitofish introductions have been associated with the decline of numerous desert fishes (Minckley and Deacon 1968; Williams et al. 1985; Miller et al. 1989; Pyke 2008). This species, along with eastern mosquitofish (Gambusia

holbrooki), were deliberately introduced in different areas around the globe for mosquito control starting in the early 20th century (Pyke 2008). For instance, western mosquitofish were established in seven hatcheries through California in the early 1900s and subsequently introduced to Nevada in the 1930s (Stockwell et al. 1996).

1.2. Invasive Species Impacts

Able to colonize diverse habitats, western mosquitofish impact native fish populations through hybridization, resource competition, and aggressive predation on all life stages of other fishes (Pyke 2008; Stockwell and Henkanaththegedara 2011). For example, invasive mosquitofish were partly responsible for the range-wide decline of the Gila topminnow (Poeciliopsis occidentalis). Once considered the most abundant fish species in the Colorado River drainage, Gila topminnow now occupies a small fraction of its former range (Minckley and Deacon 1968; Sheffer et al. 1997). Similarly, population declines of White River spinedace (Lepidomeda albivallis) were observed soon after the introduction of western mosquitofish (Minckley and Marsh 2009). Invasive species have also caused fishes to change behaviors and habitats (Minckley and Deacon 1968). For instance, following the introduction of western mosquitofish, the least chub (Iotichthys phlegethontis) became nocturnal and moved to suboptimal habitats (Ayala et al. 2007).

Continued presence of invasive species makes recovery of desert fishes challenging in the absence of substantial active management. For example, the establishment of refuge populations has been widely used for managing endangered fishes (Minckley and Deacon 1968; Soltz and Naiman 1978; Minckley 1995; Stockwell and Leberg 2002). Such refuge habitats typically are designed to host a single species (Miller 1948; Minckley and Deacon 1968; Minckley 1995; Goodchild and Stockwell 2016). However, habitats without fishes are at a premium, and removal

of invasive fish species is costly and often un-successful (Minckley 1995). Thus, re-evaluating constraints and exploring novel solutions for conservation solutions are both necessary to assist management procedures.

A historic constraint on management has been the pervasive view that non-native species always negatively impact desert fish populations (Stockwell and Henkanaththegedara 2011; Henkanaththegedara and Stockwell 2014). In turn, observed negative impacts have often been attributed to the evolutionary naïveté of desert fishes (Meffe 1985; Cox and Lima 2006). This view reflects long-held views concerning the vulnerability of naïve island species of terrestrial vertebrates. Reduced predation pressure is expected to lead to the loss of antipredator behaviors, such as high vigilance, hiding, and even predator avoidance (Roemer et al. 2002; Blumstein and Daniel 2005; Berger et al. 2007). The best documented examples of this phenomenon come from island populations of terrestrial vertebrates (Blumstein and Daniel 2005). For instance, antipredator behaviors such as flight initiation distances of marine iguanas (Amblyrhynchus cristatus) differ between islands of acute, low, or no predation in the Galápagos Islands (Berger et al. 2007). Populations lacking antipredator behaviors are said to be predatorily naïve (Roemer et al. 2002; Blumstein and Daniel 2005; Cox and Lima 2006; Berger et al. 2007).

1.3. Variation in Co-Persistence

While terrestrial island populations have been extensively studied, little empirical work has focused on fishes isolated in aquatic islands in the western deserts of North America. However, recent research on desert fishes suggested that interactions of invasive and native fishes may be more complicated than once thought. For example, Henkanaththegedara and Stockwell (2014) reported evidence that intra-guild predation may facilitate co-persistence of non-native western mosquitofish with the endangered Mohave tui chub (Siphateles bicolor

mohavensis). They found that mosquitofish predation on tui chub larvae was limited by gape size of the mosquitofish predator, allowing larger individuals to escape (Henkanaththegedara and Stockwell 2014). Reciprocally, adult tui chub predation on adult mosquitofish was also gapelimited. Similarly, Goodchild and Stockwell (2016) provided evidence that Pahrump poolfish could not persist in sympatry with mosquitofish or pupfish, whereas the Amargosa pupfish (Cyprinodon nevadensis) could co-persist with mosquitofish and/or native Pahrump poolfish (Empetrichthys latos). By contrast, Rogowski and Stockwell (2006) reported that invasive mosquitofish impacted population growth of experimental populations of the White Sands pupfish (C. tularosa). Thus, the impacts of introduced mosquitofish on native fishes appear to vary among desert aquatic systems, despite the fact that all of these systems are relatively simple. The Mohave tui chub, Pahrump poolfish and White Sands pupfish all evolved in the absence of any other fishes, at least since the end of the Pleistocene, whereas Amargosa pupfish historically has co-occurred with Amargosa speckled dace (Rhynichthys osculus ssp.). Thus, desert fish species may vary in their vulnerability to impacts by western mosquitofish. Such impacts are often associated with mosquitofish predation on larvae and eggs of native fishes. Therefore, differences in antipredator behaviors may vary among desert fish species.

1.4. Chemical Alarm Cues and Epithelial Club Cells

Anti-predator traits of particular interest involve the chemical alarm cues associated with injury and their apparent detection by conspecifics (Chivers and Smith 1998; Chivers et al. 2007; Ferrari et al. 2010). Earlier studies have shown that responses to these cues can be speciesspecific and age-specific (Chivers and Smith 1998; Alemadi and Wisenden 2002; Lehtiniemi 2005; Olson et al. 2012). These types of cues, which are defined as signals benefiting the receiver and not the sender, have been widely observed in Ostariophysian fishes. Once injured,

epithelial tissue releases chemical cues involuntarily, alerting conspecifics of an actively foraging predator (Wisenden 2015). Detection and response to these cues allows for individual evasion and increased chances of survival. Not responding results in higher mortality rates (Wisenden 2015). Examples of responses range from a decrease in movement and hiding behavior of fathead minnows (Pimephales promelas) to area avoidance and shoaling behaviors in young convict cichlids (Amatitlania siquia) (Alemadi and Wisenden 2002; Wisenden 2015). Prey respond by reduced feeding behavior or by moving out of the water column and decreasing activity (Wisenden 2015), which in turn increased survivorship (Hews and Blaustein 1985; Chivers and Smith 1998; Wisenden et al. 1999). These antipredator reactions can be costly in terms of lost opportunities for foraging and/or breeding, especially in an ecosystem having limited resources.

Antipredator behaviors and chemical cues are also associated with club cells, specialized cells found in epithelial tissue covering the scales. Club cells may contain the chemical alarm cue, which is released when club cells are ruptured due to injury of the epidermis. Although their biological function for an individual is poorly understood, club cells may boost cell proliferation to increase protection from ultra-violet radiation and attacks by skin-penetrating parasites (Chivers et al. 2007). For example, experimental exposure to trematode cercariae induced proliferation of club cells in fathead minnows (Chivers et al. 2007). Although there are fitness benefits from club cells contributing to the role of skin as a barrier to foreign invaders, there is a demonstrable cost to club cell production. Fathead minnows produce club cells in proportion to food resources available (Wisenden and Smith 1998), and reduce club cell proliferation when challenged by cortisol injections (Halbgewachs et al. 2009). Further, male fathead minnows lose club cells completely when refraining from foraging during nest defense and egg care (Smith

1973; Smith 1976). In addition to serving as part of the immune system, many authors have noted that club cells are a prominent component of epidermal tissue, and surely are damaged during predatory attack. Thus, rupturing the club cells is likely to contribute to chemical alarm cues that elicit antipredator responses in many fishes (Pfeiffer 1977; Smith 1992; but see Carreau-Green 2008). Because there are metabolic and fitness costs to both production of club cells and behavioral responses to chemicals released from injured skin, loss of response to these cells, or possibly the loss of the cells themselves due to other processes, would render a species with reduced capacity for detecting and evading predators (Chivers et al. 2007; Ferrari et al. 2010).

Behavioral responses and club cell expression have been extensively researched in zebrafish, Danio rerio, a common model species. Alarm reactions for zebrafish were first documented as early as the 1980s, but have been expanded upon (Waldman 1982; Korpi and Wisenden, 2001; Wisenden et al. 2010). For instance, Barkhymer et al. (2018) demonstrated exposure of chemical alarm cues increased cortisol concentrations in zebrafish. Similarly, club cells have been recognized in zebrafish epidermis (Chang and Hwang 2011) and have been associated with chitin abundance (Tang et al. 2015), stress (Oliveira et al 2014), and even human skin disorders (Cline and Feldman 2016). Zebrafish have also been used to determine the neurological pathways used in alarm responses and may help establish the chromatography of alarm cues (Doving and Lastein 2009). Various studies of alarm cue responses and club cells in this species makes zebrafish a model for this area for research.

This thesis focuses on evaluating antipredator traits for several desert fishes. First, responses to injury-released chemical alarm cue were evaluated for two species native to the American southwest with similar life histories, the endangered Pahrump poolfish, Empetrichthys

latos, and the Amargosa pupfish, Cyprinodon nevadensis amargosae. I also evaluated alarm cue responses of zebrafish as a positive control. Secondly, prevalence and densities of club cells were evaluated for these fishes, along with three other desert fishes: Hot Creek Valley tui chub, Siphateles bicolor ssp, White sands pupfish, Cyprinodon tularosa, White river springfish, Crenichthys baileyi. For this club cell work, I also evaluated both zebrafish, Denio rerio, and fathead minnows, Pimephales promelas, as positive controls as these species are traditionally used in club cell research. Finally, distribution of prevalence and club cell densities were evaluated in a phylogentic context to evaluate the evolutionary history of club cells.

1.5. References

- Alemadi, S.D., and Wisenden, B.D. 2002. Antipredator response to injury-released chemical alarm cues by convict cichlid young before and after independence from parental protection. Behaviour. **139**: 603-611.
- Ayala, J.R., Rader, R.B., Belk, M.C., Schaalje, G.B. 2007. Ground-truthing the impact of invasive species: spatio-temporal overlap between native least chub and introduced western mosquitofish. Biological Invasions. 9(7): 857-869.
- Barkhymer, A.J., Garrett, S.G., Wisenden, B.D. 2018. Olfactorily-mediated cortisol response to chemical alarm cues in zebrafish *Danio rerio*. Journal of Fish Biology. 1–6.
- Berger, S., Wikelski, M., Romero, L.M., Kalko, E.K.V., Rodl, T. 2007. Behavioral and physiological adjustments to new predator in an endemic island species, the Galapagos marine iguana. Hormones and Behavior. 52(5): 653-663.
- Blumstein, D.T., Daniel, J.C. 2005. The loss of anti-predator behaviour following isolation on islands. Proceedings of the Royal Society B. **272**(1573): 1663-1668.

- Carreau-Green, N.D., Mirza R.S., Martinez M.L., Pyle G.G. 2008. The ontogeny of chemically mediated antipredator responses of fathead minnows *Pimephales promelas*. Journal of Fish Biology. **73**(10): 2390-2401.
- Chang, W., Hwang, P. 2011. Development of zebrafish epidermis. Birth Defects Research Part C: Embryo Today: Reviews. **93**(3).
- Chivers, D.P., Smith, R.J.F. 1998. Chemical alarm signaling in aquatic predator-prey systems: a review and prospectus. Ecoscience. **5**(3): 338-352.

Chivers, D.P., Wisenden, B.D., Hindman, C.J., Michalak, T.A., Kusch, R.C., Kaminskyj,
S.G.W., Jack, K.L., Ferrari, M.C.O., Pollock, R.J., Alemadi, S., James, C.T., Savaloja,
R.K., Goater, C.P., Corwin, A., Mirza, R.S., Kiesecker, J.M., Brown, G.E., Adrian, J.C.,
Krone, P.H., Blaustein, A.R., Mathis, A. 2007. Epidermal 'alarm substance' cells of
fishes maintained by non-alarm functions: possible defense against pathogens, parasites,
UVB radiation. Proceedings of the Royal Society B. 274(1625): 2611-2619.

- Cline, A., Feldman, S.R. 2016. Zebrafish for modeling skin disorders. Dermatology Online Journal. **22**(8).
- Cox, J.G., Lima, S.L. 2006. Naivete and an aquatic-terrestrial dichotomy in the effects of introduced predators. Trends in Ecology & Evolution. 21(12): 674-680.
- Deacon, J.E., Hubbs, C., Zahuranec, B.J. 1964. Some effects of introduced fishes on the native fish fauna of southern Nevada. Copeia. **1964**(2): 384-388.
- Doving, K.B., Lastein, S. 2009. The alarm reaction in fishes odorants, modulations of responses, neural pathways. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. **1170**(1).

- Ferrari, M.C.O., Wisenden, B.D., Chivers, D.P. 2010. Chemical ecology of predator-prey interactions in aquatic ecosystems: a review and prospectus. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 88(7): 698-724.
- Goodchild, S.C., Stockwell, C.A. 2016. An experimental test of novel ecological communities of imperiled and invasive species. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 145(2): 264-268.
- Halbgewachs, C.F., Marchant, T.A., Kusch, R.C., Chivers, D.P. 2009. Epidermal club cells and the innate immune system, of minnows. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society. 98(4): 891-897.
- Henkanaththegedara, S.M., Stockwell, C.A. 2014. Intraguild predation may facilitate coexistence of native and non-native fish. Journal of Applied Ecology. **51**(4): 1057-1065.
- Hews, D.K., Blaustein, A.R. 1985. An investigation of the alarm response in *Bufo boreas* and *Rana cascadae* tadpoles. Behavioral and Neural Biology. **43**(1): 47-57.
- Hubbs, C., Brodrick, H.J. 1963. Current abundance of *Gambusia gaigei*, an endangered fish species. The Southwestern Naturalist. **8**(1): 4648-4650.
- Korpi, N.L., Wisenden, B.D. 2001. Learned recognition of novel predator odour by zebra danios, danio rerio, following time-shifted presentation of alarm cue and predator odour.
 Environmental Biology of Fishes. 61(2): 205-211.
- Lehtiniemi, M. 2005. Swim or hide: predator cues cause species specific reactions in young fish larvae. Journal of Fish Biology. **66**(5): 1285-1299.
- Meffe, G.K. 1985. Predation of species replacement in American southwestern fishes: a case study. The Southwestern Naturalist. **30**(2): 173-187.

- Meffe, G.K., Hendrickson, D.A., Minckley, W.L. 1983. Factors resulting in decline of the endangered Sonoran topminnow *Poeciliopsis occidentalis* (Atheriniformes: Poeciliidae) in the United States. Biological Conservation. 25: 135-159.
- Miller, R.R. 1948. The cyprinodont fishes of the Death Valley system of eastern California and southwestern Nevada. University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor MI.
- Miller, R. R., 1961. Speciation rates of some fresh-water fishes of western North America. Vertebrate speciation. Univ. Texas Press, Austin, TX. pp. 537-560.
- Miller, R.R., Williams, J.D., Williams, J.E. 1989. Extinctions of North American fishes during the past century. Fisheries. **14**(6): 22-38.
- Minckley, W.L. 1995. Translocation as a tool for conserving imperiled fishes: experiences in western United States. Biological Conservation. **72**: 297-309.
- Minckley, W.L., Deacon, J.E. 1968. Southwestern fishes and the enigma of "endangered species". Science. **159**(3822): 1424-1432.
- Minckley, W. L., Deacon, J. E. 1991. Battle against extinction: native fish management in the American west. University of Arizona Press, Tucson, AZ.
- Minckley, W.L., Marsh, P.C. 2009. Inland fishes of the greater Southwest: chronicle of a vanishing biota. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson, AZ.
- Oliveira, T.A., Koakoski, G., da Motta, A.C., Piato, A.L., Barreto, R.E., Volpato, G.L., Barcellos, L.J.G. 2014. Death-associated odors induce stress in zebrafish. Hormones and Behaviour. **65**(4): 340-344.
- Olson J.A., Olson, J.M., Walsh, R.E., Wisenden, B.D. 2012. A method to train groups of predator-naïve fish to recognize and respond to predators when released into the natural environment. North American Journal of Fisheries Management. **32**(1): 77-81.

- Pfeiffer, W. 1977. The distribution of fright reaction and alarm substance cells in fishes. Copeia. **1977**(4): 653-665.
- Pister, E.P. 1974. Desert fishes and their habitats. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. **103**(3): 531-540.
- Pyke, G.H. 2008. Plague minnow or mosquito fish? A review of the biology and impacts of introduced *Gambusia* species. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics. **39**: 171-191.
- Roemer, G.W., Donlan, C.J., Courchamp, F. 2002. Golden eagles, feral pigs, and isolated carnivores: how exotic species turn native predators into prey. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. **99**(2): 791-796.
- Rogowski, D.L., Stockwell, C.A. 2006. Assessment of potential impacts of exotic species on populations of a threatened species, White Sands pupfish, *Cyprinodon tularosa*.
 Biological Invasions. 8(1): 79-87.
- Rundel, P.W., Gibson, A.C. 1996. Adaptive strategies of growth form and physiological ecology in neotropical lowland rain forest plants. Neotropical biodiversity and conservation. 1: 1-33.
- Sheffer, R.J., Hedrick, P.W., Minckley, W.L., Velasco, A.L. 1997. Fitness in the endangered Gila topminnow. Conservation Biology. **11**(1): 162-171.
- Smith, G.R. 1973. Analysis of Several Hybrid Cyprinid Fishes from Western North American. Copeia. 1973(3): 395-410.
- Smith, R.J.F. 1976. Seasonal loss of alarm substance cells in North American cyprinoid fishes and its relation to abrasive spawning behaviour. Can. J. Zool. **54**(7): 1172-1182.
- Smith, R.J.F. 1992. Alarm signals in fishes. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries. 2(1): 33-63.

- Soltz, D.L., Naiman, R.J. 1978. The natural history of native fishes in the Death Valley system. Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Los Angeles C.A.
- Stockwell, C.A., Henkanaththegedara, S.M. 2011. Evolutionary conservation biology. *In*Ecology and Evolution of Poeciliid Fishes. *Edited by* J.P. Evans, A. Pilastro, I. Schlupp.
 University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL. pp. 128-141.
- Stockwell, C.A., Leberg P.L. 2002. Ecological genetics and the translocation of native fishes: emerging experimental approaches. Western North American Naturalist. **62**(1): 32-38.
- Stockwell, C.A., Mulvey, M., Vinyard, G.L. 1996. Translocations and the preservation of allelic diversity. Conservation Biology. 10(4): 1133-1141.
- Tang, W.J., Fernandex, J.G., Sohn, J.J., Amemiya, C.T. 2015. Chitin is endogenously produced in vertebrates. Current Biology. 25(7): 897-900.
- Waldman, B. 1982. Quantitative and developmental analysis of the alarm reaction in the zebra danio, *Brachydanio rerio*. Copeia. 1: 1-9.
- Williams, J.E., Bowman, D.B., Brooks, J.E., Echelle, A.A., Edwards, R.J., Hendrickson, D.A., Landye, J.J. 1985. Endangered aquatic ecosystems in North American deserts with a list of vanishing fishes of the region. Journal of the Arizona-Nevada Academy of Science.
 20(1): 1-61.
- Wisenden, B.D. 2015. Chemical cues that indicate risk of predation. *In* Fish Pheromones and Related Cues. *Edited by* P.W. Sorensen, B.D. Wisenden. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Ames, IA.
- Wisenden, B.D., Smith, R.J.F. 1998. A re□evaluation of the effect of shoalmate familiarity on the proliferation of alarm substance cells in ostariophysan fishes. Journal of Fish Biology.
 53(4): 841-846.

- Wisenden, B.D., Cline, A., Sparkes, T.C. 1999. Survival benefit to antipredator behavior in the amphipod *Gammarus minus* (Crustacea: Amphipoda) in response to injury-released chemical cues from conspecifics and heterospecifics. Ethology. **105**(5): 407-414.
- Wisenden, B.D., Binstock, C.L., Knoll, K.E., Linke, A.J., Demuth, B.S. 2010. Risk-sensitive information gathering by cyprinids following release of chemical alarm cues. Animal Behaviour. 79(5): 1101-1107.

2. CHEMICAL ALARM CUE RESPONSES AND EPIDERMAL HISTOLOGY OF TWO DESERT CYPRINODONTS

2.1. Abstract

Many desert fishes in the American southwest evolved in simple communities with limited fish predators or competitors following their post-Pleistocene isolation (Miller 1961; Meffe et al. 1983). Thus, evolutionary naïvete has been invoked to explain the decline and extirpation of desert fish populations following the introduction of non-native predaceous fishes, such as the western mosquitofish, Gambusia affinis (Meffe et al 1983; Sih et al. 2011). These out-sized impacts of invasive species on native species could result from the loss of costly antipredator behaviors, morphologies, and physiologies, such as a lack of anti-predator responses to conspecific injury-released chemical alarm cues. Here, the endangered Pahrump poolfish, Empetrichthys latos, and Amargosa pupfish, Cyprinodon nevadensis amargosae, were evaluated for behavioral responses to chemical alarm cues created with epithelial tissue from conspecifics. Epithelial tissue is the source of chemical alarm cues in other fishes, with a significant component being club cells. Neither poolfish nor pupfish responded to conspecific alarm cues when compared to a positive control (zebrafish). I also evaluated the prevalence and density of epithelial club cells typically associated with anti-predator chemical alarm cues in numerous fishes. Epithelial club cell prevalence was 24% and 11% of samples and club cell densities were 70.1 ± 27.8 and 9.6 ± 2.7 club cells / mm² of skin for poolfish and pupfish respectively. These values were substantially lower than values for zebrafish, a species extensively studied for behavioral, morphological, and physiological responses to chemical alarm cues (prevalence: 100%; density: 310 ± 51.3 club cells / mm²). Thus, the two desert fishes had low prevalence and densities of club cells, and showed no evidence of behavioral responses to skin extract.

Therefore, antipredator competence mediated by conspecific alarm cues does not seem to be a component of the ecology of these desert fishes. These results may explain why desert fishes are vulnerable to impacts by non-native predaceous fishes.

2.2. Introduction

Many freshwater fishes in the North American desert are endemic to small, simple ecosystems, isolated from other species. Therefore, it is likely that fishes evolved under relaxed aquatic predation pressures (Minckley and Deacon 1968; Pister 1974; Rundel and Gibson 1996). In turn, lack of predator-associated selection pressure may have resulted in the evolutionary loss of costly anti-predator traits (Wisenden and Smith 1998; Chivers et al. 2007), and thus render such species more vulnerable to predators. Such *evolutionary naïvete* has been invoked to explain the rapid decline of many desert fishes following the introduction of non-native predatory species, such as western mosquitofish, *Gambusia affinis*, and red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii* (Miller 1961; Miller et al. 1989; Pister, 1974; Meffe et al. 1983; Sih et al. 2011). Management efforts to eradicate invasive species have had low rates of success (Minckley and Deacon 1968; Meffe 1985; Minckley 1995). Therefore, more research is needed to better understand mechanisms that have predisposed desert fishes to impacts by invasive species.

Evaluation of antipredator competence in desert fishes requires comparison to antipredator traits in non-insolated fishes. For instance, predator-prey interactions in non-isolated aquatic systems are often mediated by chemical cues such as the odor of predators and chemical alarm cues released by the skin of conspecifics damaged during predatory attack (Ferrari et al. 2010; Wisenden 2015). The source of alarm cues is the skin (Hintz et al. 2017). Epithelial club cells are a conspicuous component of the epithelium in the speciose superorder Ostariophysi, which contains orders such as the Cypriniformes (minnows), the Characiformes (characins and tetras), and the Siluriformes (catfish). For these fishes, club cells have been hypothesized to be the source, or at least a component of alarm cues, chemical compositions that benefit the receiver and not the sender. (Smith 1992; see Chapter 3). Stereotypical antipredator behaviors have been documented in many species in response to conspecific alarm cues (see Smith 1992; Chivers and Smith 1998; Ferrari et al. 2010 for review).

Thus, the first step in assessing antipredator competence in desert fishes is to determine if desert fishes produce, detect, and respond to conspecific chemical alarm. This study focused on antipredator behaviors and epidermal histology of two desert fishes: Amargosa pupfish, *Cyprinodon nevadensis amaragosae*, and the federally endangered Pahrump poolfish, *Empetrichthys latos.* Amargosa pupfish were selected because, in contract to poolfish, they were able to produce numerous surviving juveniles when reared sympatrically with western mosquitofish (Goodchild and Stockwell 2016). Poolfish were chosen for this work because they were unable to produce surviving juveniles in the presence of non-native western mosquitofish (Goodchild and Stockwell 2016). One hypothesis to explain this difference is that poolfish evolved in allopatry since the end of the Pleistocene (Miller 1948). Amargosa pupfish evolved in sympatry with speckled dace (Rhynichthys osculus ssp.) (Williams et al. 1989), but were introduced to a fishless habitat in the 1940s by Robert Rush Miller. Here, I evaluated poolfish and pupfish for behavioral responses, and also the prevalence and density of epithelial club cells. As a positive control, I also evaluated zebrafish (Danio rerio) responses to injury-released alarm cues and documented the prevalence and density of their epithelial club cells. Zebrafish have well-documented alarm reactions to conspecific skin extract (Waldman 1982; Speedie and Gerlai 2008).

2.3. Materials and Methods

2.3.1. Behavioral Rearing

Pahrump poolfish (*Empetrichthys latos*) tested for behavioral responses were second generation lab-reared individuals originally collected from Spring Mountain Ranch in 2014 (Goodchild 2015). Amargosa pupfish (*Cyprinodon nevadensis amargosae*) used for the behavioral experiment were collected at River Springs, Inyo County, CA in June of 2017. This population was established in the 1940s by R.R. Miller when *C. n. amargosae* and *C. salinus* pupfish were introduced from the Amargosa River and Salt Creek, Death Valley, respectively (Miller and Alcorn 1945). Each species was kept separately at densities of 100 to 150 fish per 379-L plastic water tanks, which contained artificial foliage. Tanks were filtered using Marineland Emperor 400 Pro Series Power Filters[®] and equipped with an air stone. Zebrafish were obtained from EkkWill Waterlife Resources and housed in densities of 10 individuals per 38L tank. Fish were fed a diet of commercial flake food and supplemented with newly hatched brine shrimp nauplii twice per week. Temperature was maintained at approximately 22⁰C with a photoperiod of 12 h light : 12 h dark.

2.3.2. Production of Test Cues

Alarm cue was produced for Pahrump poolfish, Amargosa pupfish, and zebrafish following protocols described by Wisenden (2011). Alarm cue was produced for each species by first euthanizing individual fish in a solution of 500mg/L of tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222) (NDSU Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee protocols #A15072 and #18054), and secondly, filleting skin from both sides of the carcass. The fillets were laid flat on a piece of wet glass to measure skin area before transfer to a beaker of 50 mL dechlorinated tap water resting on crushed ice (Table 2.1). For each species, the combined skin from all individuals was

homogenized by a hand blender for 30 s, and further diluted with dechlorinated tap water to a final concentration of $1.0 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ skin/mL}$ (Table 2.1). Control cue was prepared with dechlorinated tap water. Both alarm and control cue solutions were aliquoted into 10-mL replicates and frozen at -18 $^{\circ}$ C.

2.3.3. Experimental Set Up and Procedure

Twelve 38-L glass aquaria fitted with glass lids were placed on metal racks under broadspectrum fluorescent lights and maintained on a photoperiod of 12 h light : 12 h dark photoperiod. Each tank contained an air-powered sponge filter with an addition 2.5 m length of airline tubing inserted into the outflow of the filter to serve as a way to deliver test cues surreptitiously (Fig. 2.1). The delivery tube was secured to the metal rack to prevent movement during trials and allowed to hang below the level of the rack, out of view from the test subjects (Fig. 2.1). A grid of 5x5 cm cells was drawn on the outside of the front panel of each test tank (Fig 2.1). Black plastic was placed between tanks to eliminate social influence of fish by adjacent tanks. No viewing screens were used as these species did not show overt response to human presence and the length of the delivery tubes allowed for remote injections of test cues without test subject-human interactions.

Each test fish was transferred from rearing tanks to holding tanks within the experimental room a minimum of one week before trials began. Each fish was acclimated for 24 h in an experimental tank and randomly assigned as either alarm cue or control. Zebrafish required two individuals per trial tank to achieve pre-stimulus behavior for testing (Barkhymer et al 2018). Experimental fish were fed commercial flake food 60-75 min before trials began. For each trial, 50 mL of tank water was withdrawn from the hanging end of the delivery tube with a 60 mL syringe and discarded to remove possible contaminants from the delivery tube. An additional 50

mL of tank water was drawn and retained to be used later to flush test stimuli from the delivery tube. A Samsung camcorder mounted on level platforms was placed 1.0 to 1.5 m directly across from each test tank. The camcorder recorded events during the 5-min pre-stimulus observation period. Once completed, either control water or conspecific chemical alarm cue was introduced to the tank through the delivery tube, followed by the 50 mL flush of the previously-retained tank water. Immediately after injection of stimulus, the camcorder recorded events during the 5-min post-stimulus observation period. Following the trial, fish were measured for total length (cm) and weight (g) before placement into designated recovery tanks. Water from experimental tanks was replaced with fresh water and delivery tubes were removed and replaced with new tubes.

2.3.4. Behavioral Data Collection

Behavioral measures were vertical distribution and activity of the subject, following standard operating protocols by Wisenden (2011). Vertical distribution was determined as the vertical location of trial fish every 15 s, averaged over each 5-min observational period. Vertical distribution was determined relative to the penciled grid on the front of the test aquarium (Fig. 2.1). Using video recordings, activity was measured as the number of lines crossed by the eye of the trial fish per minute during the 5-min observational period. Data for the two zebrafish were averaged for the two fish per tank per trial. Post-stimulus data were recorded for each minute after treatment type introduction and averaged. For each trial, post-stimulus response data were analyzed using ANCOVA in JMP software (type III sums of squares, 0.05 alpha level). Treatment type (control water or alarm cue) was treated as the categorical predictor, with the prestimulus behavior for each fish as a covariate. I conducted 80, 80, and 50 trials for poolfish, pupfish, and zebrafish respectively.

2.3.5. Sample Preparation for Histological Examination

Fish were sacrificed using a lethal dosage of MS-222 (~500 mg/L) and a 3-4mm section of skin was taken from the nape region (Wisenden and Smith 1998; Chivers et al 2007). I sampled similar numbers of Pahrump poolfish (n = 29) and Amargosa pupfish (n = 28), but I sampled only 10 zebrafish as the presence of club cells is well-documented for this species (Beckwith et al 2000; Rakers et al 2010).

Samples were fixed in 10% formaldehyde solution for 24 h in preparation for sectioning and staining. After setting in parafilm for 8 h, samples were sectioned, stained with periodic acid Schiff reagent and counterstained with hematoxylin (PAS-H), and mounted on slides. These slides were then digitally scanned using a MoticEasyScan® slide scanner at 40X, high definition magnification.

2.3.6. Histology Analysis

Using Image-Pro Premier®, the area of epithelial tissue was calculated with smart segment tool and the number of visible club cells recorded for each sample. These data were used to estimate club cell density per mm² of skin per fish. An ANOVA was performed to compare club cell densities among the three species, followed by post-hoc pair-wise tests while experiment-wise alpha was maintained at 0.05.



Figure 2.1. Features of behavioral trial tank. A 5 x 5cm grid was drawn on one side of a 38L glass aquarium and placed on a metal rack. A sponge filter for aeration was placed on the left-hand side of the tank. A black divider was attached to the outside between each tank. A 2.5 m delivery tube was inserted into the top of the sponge filter, attached to either the tank itself or the metal rack, and allowed to hang loose. Treatments were injected via syringes into the delivery tube.

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Behavioral Results

Zebrafish: There were significant effects of cue type ($F_{1,47} = 33.84$, p < 0.001; Fig. 2.2a) and pre-stimulus position ($F_{1,47} = 14.30$, p < 0.001; Fig. 2.2a) on vertical distribution. The post-stimulus vertical distribution was decreased from the alarm cue treatment compared to the control (Fig. 2.2a). However, zebrafish activity was not affected by cue type ($F_{1,47} = 0.444$, p = 0.503; Fig. 2.3a) but was significantly affected by pre-stimulus activity ($F_{1,47} = 12.395$, p = 0.001; Fig. 2.3a)

Poolfish: Poolfish post-stimulus vertical distribution was not significantly affected by cue type ($F_{1,69} < 0.001$, p = 0.998; Fig. 2.2b), but was affected by pre-stimulus position ($F_{1,64}$ = 100.53, p < 0.001; Fig. 2.2b). Post-stimulus activity was not significantly impacted by cue type

(F_{1,64} = 1.154, p = 0.287; Fig. 2.3b), but was significantly affected by pre-stimulus activity (F_{1,69} = 70.574, p < 0.001; Fig. 2.3b).

Pupfish: Pupfish post-stimulus vertical distribution was not significantly affected by cue type ($F_{1,77} = 0.90$, p = 0.347; Fig. 2.2c) or by pre-stimulus position ($F_{1,77} = 0.16$, p = 0.693; Fig. 2.2c). Post-stimulus activity was not significantly impacted by cue type ($F_{1,77} = 0.69$, p = 0.07; Fig. 2.3c), but was significantly affected by pre-stimulus activity ($F_{1,77} = 96.6$, p < 0.001; Fig. 2.3c).

2.4.2. Histology Results

Epithelial club cells were recognized as unstained, circular cells that did not open to the surface of the skin (Chivers et al. 2007). For individuals with at least one club cell, prevalence was 100% of zebrafish, 24% of poolfish, and 11% of pupfish specimens (Fig. 2.4). The estimated mean number of club cells per mm² of skin for zebrafish was 310 ± 51.3 (mean ± 1 SE; Fig 2.5). By contrast, poolfish and pupfish had substantially lower mean club cell densities of 17.12 ± 7.4 and 1.0 ± 0.6 club cells / mm², respectively (Fig. 2.5). The overall density of club cells differed significantly among all three species ($F_{2,64} = 83.8$, p < 0.001), with zebrafish being significantly different from both pupfish and poolfish ($F_{1,36} = 107.18$, p < 0.001; $F_{1,37} = 79.99$, p < 0.001). Pupfish and poolfish were not statistically different ($F_{1,55} = 3.41$, p = 0.07).

Table 2.1. Total number of individuals sacrificed, mean total length, area of skin used for each species, final solution volume, and final concentration of alarm cue are provided.

SPECIES	N	TOTAL LENGTH (mm)	SKIN AREA (cm²)	FINAL VOLUME (ml)	CONCENTRATION (cm ² /mm)
Pahrump Poolfish	16	30.6 ± 2.13	44.11	440	1.003
Amargosa Pupfish	15	40.9 ± 4.97	53.06	530	1.001
Zebrafish	16	30.4 ± 1.53	39.69	390	1.02



Figure 2.2. Mean ± 1 SE vertical distribution (1 = bottom, 5 = top) between treatment types (control, alarm cue) for zebrafish (a), poolfish (b), and pupfish (c) before (black square) and after (white square) introduction of test stimuli. Asterisk (*) indicates significant differences (p < 0.05).


Figure 2.3. Mean ± 1 SE activity (lines crosses per min) before (black square) and after (white square) introduction of test stimuli for zebrafish (a), poolfish (b), and pupfish (c).



Figure 2.4. Club cell prevalence by species. A prevalence of 100% indicates that all samples displayed at least one club cells, whereas 0% indicates that none of the samples of that species exhibited club cells.



Figure 2.5. Mean ± 1 SE club cell densities among taxa. Number of samples (N) indicated above each bar.

2.5. Discussion

Similar to Chang and Hwang 2011, Zebrafish possessed numerous epithelial club cells. Their behavioral responses to chemical alarm cues in terms of changes in vertical distribution were also consistent with established literature (Barkhymer et al. 2018). By contrast, their activity unexpectedly did not change in response to alarm cue. The stereotypical response of zebrafish to alarm cues is overall reduction in activity and movement to the bottom (Ferrari et al. 2010). However, fathead minnows typically reduce activity, while zebrafish typically increase (Olson et al. 2012; Speedie and Gerlai 2008; Barkhymer et al 2018). This variation in response within a species may derived from individual personality, such that a bolder fish and shyer fish may respond differently to the same stimulus (Magnhagen and Bunnefeld 2009; Nakayama et al. 2012). Nevertheless, the change in vertical distribution exhibited by zebrafish under these experimental conditions provides a positive control for the testing procedure used for poolfish and pupfish.

Neither poolfish nor pupfish showed any evidence of antipredator behavior in response to conspecific injury-released chemical alarm cue, consistent with the predator naïvete hypothesis. These desert fishes may have evolved reduced alarm cue responses due to relaxed predation pressure as has been observed for other isolated species (Roemer et al. 2002; Berger et al. 2007). Alternatively, non-response could be due to a limited alarm cue signal, associated with the limited club cells in both species. In either case, these desert fishes did not respond to chemical alarm cues during this study, and therefore, lack an antipredator mechanism commonly seen in many small fishes such as zebrafish.

Poolfish and pupfish had low prevalence and density of club cells relative to zebrafish. Similar club cell counts occurred in other cyprinodontids such as White Sands pupfish, *Cyprinodon tularosa*, and White River springfish, *Crenichthys baileyi* (chapter 3). In fathead minnows, club cell proliferation increases in response to skin-penetrating parasites or to acute immune challenge, increases in food, and decreases in males during breeding seasons when fasting and energetic demands for nest defense are high (Smith 1973; Wisenden and Smith 1998; Chivers et al. 2007; Halbgewachs et al. 2009). Thus, I hypothesized that the low density of club cells in cyprinodonts is likely driven by phylogenetic inertia (chapter 3), but may also stem from a history of limited exposure to parasites or extreme food restrictions. This is the first study to evaluate club cells and alarm-cue responses in desert fishes.

Collectively, this study suggests that poolfish and pupfish did not produce, detect, or react to conspecific chemical alarm cues. These results are consistent with previous research on poolfish suggesting high vulnerability to predatory fishes due to the poor juvenile recruitment

(Goodchild and Stockwell 2016), likely resulting from a history of isolation since the Pleistocene. However, Amargosa pupfish differ from poolfish in being both able to co-exist with mosquitofish (Goodchild and Stockwell 2016) and having an evolutionary history of sympatry with native Amargosa speckled dace. However, the pupfish used here were collected from an introduced population at River Springs, a habitat without other fishes.

These findings provide insight into a potential mechanism for the impact of invasive species on Pahrump poolfish and other insolated species. In fact, the lack of behavioral response to chemical alarm cue may have contributed to the decline of poolfish at Spring Mountain Ranch in 2016, where the poolfish population plummeted from well over 10,000 fish to just a few hundred fish within one year of the discovery of western mosquitofish (Kevin Guadalupe, Nevada Department of Wildlife, pers. comm). The impacts of invasive mosquitofish on Pahrump poolfish have been consistently demonstrated in experimental communities, where poolfish failed to produce juveniles when sympatric with western mosquitofish (Goodchild 2015; Goodchild and Stockwell 2016; Paulson and Stockwell, unpublished). The current study, along with evidence of population declines, are consistent with hypothesis that extended isolation in allopathy has rendered Pahrump poolfish vulnerable to invasive species due to limited antipredator behaviors.

The relevance of these results is not quite as straightforward when considering the Amargosa pupfish. The River Springs population were established before gambusia were present, but had co-evolved with Amargosa speckled dace. Further, Goodchild and Stockwell (2016) showed that pupfish were able to co-persist with mosquitofish and poolfish, with high levels of juvenile recruitment. However, pupfish do not respond to alarm cue, we must look to another mechanism to explain their co-persistence with invasive mosquitofish

Work with fathead minnows suggests the possibility that predator-naïve populations can learn to recognize invasive predators through associative recognition learning (Suboski 1990; Suboski et al. 1990; Ferrari et al. 2010). Such learning is a type of associative learning in which detection of alarm cues simultaneously with another novel, neutral stimulus, transfers the innate alarm cue responses to the novel stimulus. For fathead minnows in piscivore-free populations, recognition learning of alarm cues presented with novel predator odor, such as that of northern pike (*Esox* Lucius), allowed for the entire population to recognize the predator species in less than two weeks (Chivers and Smith 1994). Unfortunately for desert fishes, an innate behavioral response to skin extract is a pre-requisite for acquired predator-recognition of invasive predators. If desert fishes do not respond to alarm cues, the ability to use recognition learning to a nonnative predator odor on desert fishes is not probable.

In conclusion, isolated poolfish and pupfish do not produce, detect, or react to chemical alarm cues. Without these behavioral responses, they are highly susceptible to predation by nonnative invasive species. However, other desert species need to be evaluated to determine generality of my findings. Unfortunately, desert fish conservation will remain dependent upon human intervention to manage or remove invasive species as desert fishes may not be able to defend themselves.

2.6. References

- Barkhymer, A.J., Garrett. S.G. Wisenden, B.D. 2018. Olfactorily-mediated cortisol response to chemical alarm cues in zebrafish *Danio rerio*. Journal of Fish Biology. 1-6.
- Beckwith, L.G., Moore, J.J., Tsao-Wu, G.S., Harshbarger, J.C., Cheng, K.C. 2000.
 Ethylnitrosourea induces neoplasia in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Laboratory Investigation
 80: 379-385.

- Berger, S., Wikelski, M., Romero, L.M., Kalko, E.K.V., Rodl, T. 2007. Behavioral and physiological adjustments to new predators in an endemic island species, the Galapagos marine iguana. Hormones and Behavior. 52(5): 653-663.
- Chang, W., Hwang, P. 2011. Development of zebrafish epidermis. Birth Defects Research Part C: Embryo Today: Reviews. **93**(3).
- Chivers, D.P., Smith, R.J.F. 1994. The role of experience and chemical signaling in predator recognition by fathead minnows, *Pimephales promelas*. Journal of Fish Biology. 44(2): 273-285.
- Chivers, D.P., Smith, J.F. 1998. Chemical alarm signaling in aquatic predator-prey systems: A review and prospectus. Ecoscience. **5**(3): 338-352.
- Chivers, D.P., Wisenden, B.D., Hindman, C.J., Michalak, T.A., Kusch, R.C., Kaminskyj,
 S.G.W., Jack, K.L., Ferrari, M.C.O., Pollock, R.J., Alemadi, S., James, C.T., Savaloja,
 R.K., Goater, C.P., Corwin, A., Mirza, R.S., Kiesecker, J.M., Brown, G.E., Adrian, J.C.,
 Krone, P.H., Blaustein, A.R., Mathis, A. 2007. Epidermal 'alarm substance' cells of
 fishes maintained by non-alarm functions: possible defense against pathogens, parasites,
 UVB radiation. Proceedings of the Royal Society B. 274(1625): 2611-2619.
- Ferrari, M.C.O., Wisenden, B.D., Chivers, D.P. 2010. Chemical ecology of predator-prey interactions in aquatic ecosystems: a review and prospectus. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 88(7): 698-724.
- Goodchild, S.C. 2015. Life history and interspecific co-persistence of native imperiled fishes in single species and multi-species situ refuges. Ph.D. Dissertation. Department of Biological Sciences, North Dakota State University.

- Goodchild, S.C., Stockwell, C.A. 2016. An experimental test of novel ecological communities of imperiled and invasive species. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. 145(2): 264-268.
- Halbgewachs, C.F., Marchant, T.A., Kusch, R.C., Chivers, D.P. 2009. Epidermal club cells and the innate immune system of minnows. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society. 98(4): 891-897.
- Hintz, H.A., Weihing, C., Bayer, R., Lonzarich, D., Bryant, W. 2017. Cultured fish epithelial cells are a source of alarm substance. MethodsX. 4: 480-485.
- Magnhagen, C., Bunnefeld, N. 2009. Express your personality or go along with the group: what determines the behaviour of shoaling perch? Proceedings of the Royal Society B.
 276(1671): 3369-3375.
- Meffe, G.K. 1985. Predation of species replacement in American Southwestern fishes: A case study. The Southwestern Naturalist. **30**(2): 173-187.
- Meffe, G.K., Hendrickson, D.A., Minckley, W.L. 1983. Factors resulting in decline of the endangered Sonoran topminnow *Poeciliopsis occidentalis* (Atheriniformes: Poeciliidae) in the United States. Biological Conservation. 25: 135-159.
- Miller, R.R. 1948. The cyprinodont fishes of the Death Valley system of eastern California and southwestern Nevada. University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor MI.
- Miller, R. R., 1961. Speciation rates of some fresh-water fishes of western North America. Vertebrate speciation. Univ. Texas Press, Austin, TX. pp. 537-560.
- Miller, R.R., Alcorn, J.R. 1945. The introduced fishes of Nevada, with a History of their introduction. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. **73**(1).

- Miller, R.R., Williams, J.D., Williams, J.E. 1989. Extinctions of North American fishes during the past century. Fisheries. **14**(6): 22-38.
- Minckley, W.L. 1995. Translocation as a tool for conserving imperiled fishes: experiences in western United States. Biological Conservation. **72**: 297-309.
- Minckley, W.L., Deacon, J.E. 1968. Southwestern fishes and the enigma of "endangered species". Science. **159**(3822): 1424-1432.
- Nakayama, S., Harcourt, J.L., Johnstone, R.A., Manica, A. 2012. Initiative, personality and leadership in pairs of foraging fish. PLoS ONE. **7**(5).
- Olson, J.A., Olson, J.M., Walsh, R.E., Wisenden, B.D. 2012. A method to train groups of predator-naïve fish to recognize and respond to predators when released into the natural environment. North American Journal of Fisheries Management. **32**(1): 77-81.
- Pister, E.P. 1974. Desert fishes and their habitats. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. **103**(3): 531-540.
- Rakers, S., Gebert, M., Uppalapati, S., Meyer, W., Maderson, P., Sell, A.F., Kruse, C., Paus., R.
 2010. 'Fish matters': the relevance of fish skin biology to investigative dermatology.
 Experimental Dermatology. 19(4): 313-324.
- Roemer, G.W., Donlan, C.J., Courchamp, F. 2002. Golden eagles, feral pigs, and isolated carnivores: How exotic species turn native predators into prey. Proceedings of National Academy of Science. 99(2): 791-796.
- Rundel, P.W., Gibson, A.C. 1996. Adaptive strategies of growth form and physiological ecology in neotropical lowland rain forest plants. Neotropical biodiversity and conservation. 1: 1-33.

- Sih, A., Ferrari, M.C.O., Harris, D.J. 2011. Evolution and behavioural responses to humaninduced rapid environmental change. Evolutionary Applications. **4**(2): 367-387.
- Smith, G.R. 1973. Analysis of several hybrid cyprinid fishes from western North American. Copeia. 1973(3): 395-410.
- Smith, R.J.F. 1992. Alarm signals in fishes. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries. 2(1): 33-63.
- Speedie, N., Gerlai, R. 2008. Alarm substance induced behavioral responses in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Behavioural Brain Research. **188**: 168-177.
- Suboski, MD. 1990. Releaser-induced recognition learning. Psychological Review. 97: 271-284.
- Suboski, M.D., Bain, S., Carty, A.E., Mcquoid, L.M., Seelen, M.I., Seifert, M. 1990. Alarm reaction in acquisition and social transmission of simulated-predator recognition by zebra danio fish (*Brachydanio rerio*). Journal of Comparative Psychology. **104**(1): 101-112.
- Waldman, B. 1982. Quantitative and developmental analyses of the alarm reaction in the zebra danio, *Brachydanio rerio*. Copeia. **1982**(1): 1-9.
- Williams, J.E., Johnson, J.E., Hendrickson, D.A., Contreras-Balderas, S., Williams, J.D.,
 Navarro-Mendoza, M., McAllister, D.E., Deacon, J.E. 1989. Fishes of North America endangered, threatened, or of special concern: 1989. Fisheries. 2-20.
- Wisenden, B.D. 2011. Quantifying anti-predator response to chemical alarm cues. *In* Zebrafish Behavioral Protocols. *Edited by* A.V. Kalueff, P. Hart, J. LaPorte. Humana Press (Springer Science), New York City, N.Y., pp. 49-60.
- Wisenden, B.D. 2015. Chemical cues that indicate risk of predation. *In* Fish Pheromones and Related Cues. *Edited by* P.W. Sorensen, B.D. Wisenden. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Ames, IA.

Wisenden, B.D., Smith, R.J.F. 1998. A re-evaluation of the effect of shoalmate familiarity on the proliferation of alarm cells in ostariophysan fishes. Journal of Fish Biology. 53(4): 841-846.

3. PREVALENCE AND DENSITY OF EPIDERMAL CLUB CELLS IN ISOLATED FISHES

3.1. Abstract

Species that evolve in isolated habitats with limited predation often have reduced investment in antipredator traits, such as the production, detection, and response to indicators of predation risk (Roemer et al. 2002; Berger et al. 2007). In aquatic ecosystems, predation risk is often mediated by so called chemical alarm cues released by tissues damaged by an attack by a predator (Smith 1992; Wisenden 2015). Epidermal tissue in many fishes contains club cells that are ruptured during an attack. The contents of these cells may contribute to the chemical component of alarm cues (Smith 1992). This study investigated whether fishes from isolated populations possess epithelial club cells. As a baseline, I evaluated two minnow species known to possess club cells, fathead minnows (Cyprinidae: Pimephales promelas) and zebrafish (Cyprinidae: Danio rerio), and five species of isolated fishes; desert-spring-dwelling Hot Creek Valley tui chub (Cyprinidae: Siphateles bicolor ssp.), Pahrump poolfish (Goodidae: Empetrichthys latos), White River springfish (Goodidae: Crenichthys baileyi), Amargosa pupfish (Cyprinodontidae: Cyprinodon nevadensis), and White Sands pupfish (Cyprinodontidae: *Cyprinodon tularosa*). The prevalence of club cells for Cyprinids (including tui chubs) ranged from 90 – 100% of individuals, whereas among Cyprinodontiformes (poolfish, pupfishes, and springfish) club cell prevalence ranged from 0 - 21%. Club cell densities per mm² of epithelial tissue differed significantly among species ($X^2 = 91.81$, df = 6, p < 0.001), pairwise comparisons revealed no differences among Cyprinids or among Cyprinodontiformes. Fathead minnows and zebrafish displayed relatively high densities of club cells per mm² of epithelial tissue (446.5 \pm 100.3 club cells / mm² epithelial tissue; 310.4 ± 51.3 club cells / mm² epithelial tissue; mean \pm

SE, respectively). Hot Creek Valley tui chub, a desert cyprinid, displayed club cell densities similar to non-isolated cyprinids sampled $(137.9 \pm 56.3 \text{ club cells / mm}^2 \text{ epithelial tissue})$. In contrast, mean club cell densities were low for Pahrump poolfish $(17.1 \pm 8.5 \text{ club cells / mm}^2 \text{ epithelial tissue})$, White Sands pupfish $(17.1 \pm 9.0 \text{ club cells / mm}^2 \text{ epithelial tissue})$, Amargosa pupfish $(1.0 \pm 0.6 \text{ club cells / mm}^2 \text{ epithelial tissue})$, and completely absent in White River springfish. Phylogeny, rather than predation history, appears to be the best predictor for expression of club cells in isolated fishes.

3.2. Introduction

Schreckstoff, or "scary stuff", refers to chemical alarm cues released during a predator attack that invoke antipredator behavioral responses in conspecifics (von Frisch 1938; Pfeiffer 1962; Stensmyr and Maderspacher 2012; Meuthen et al 2016) and has been considered a defining characteristic of ostariophysan fishes (e.g. minnows, characins, and catfishes) (Pfeiffer 1977; Nelson et al. 2016). For many fishes, the presumptive source of such "alarm cues" resides in the epidermis (Hintz et al. 2017), which is typically damaged in a predatory attack. Club cells, specialized cells found in the epidermis, have been hypothesized to contribute at least a component of alarm cues (Kristensen and Closs 2004). Although club cells are often linked with schreckstoff, understanding sender benefits and how they evolved have been the main foci of attention (Smith 1992; Chivers et al. 2007).

While schreckstoff can benefit the receiver, the benefits for the sender are less clear. There are numerous hypotheses regarding the evolution of alarm cue production, with popular hypotheses being kin selection, predator confusion, and protection from UV and parasites (Smith 1992; Chivers et al 2007). Producing alarm cues to alert shoal mates would allow closely related kin to avoid predation (Smith 1992). However, Meuthen et al. (2016) determined that relatedness to the sender fish of nearby individuals did not significantly change their overall reaction. Smith (1992) suggested that, in the event of injury, release of chemical alarm cues may confuse predators, allowing for individuals to evade further harm. Chivers et al (2007) correlated club cell density to parasite or pathogens load, as well as exposure to UVB radiation in fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*). An additional study confirmed a link between club cells and immune functions, such as cortisol concentrations (Halbgewachs et al. 2009; Barkhymer et al. 2018). Therefore, club cells likely provide benefits to senders that occurred prior to their incidental role as potential sources of chemical alarm cues. Nevertheless, the presence of large cells in the epidermis provides an opportunity for receivers to develop specialized receptors to detect the contents of these cells once released in the water, and therefore, have a mechanism to detect predation risk (Dodson et al. 1994; Doving and Lastein 2009). If isolated fishes do harbor these unique epithelial club cells, then predation pressure (or lack thereof) may select for appropriate behavioral responses against predation.

Evolution of schreckstoff is the result of receiver-side selection because individuals that detect and respond to alarm cues avoid predation and, thus, have higher fitness than individuals that do not detect and respond to alarm cues (Mathis and Smith 1993; Chivers et al. 2002). Alarm responses by many fishes have been documented (Chivers and Smith 1998; Ferrari et al. 2010), but two desert fishes did not respond to alarm cues (Chapter 2). This begged the question as to whether alarm cue production was limited in these two desert fishes. However, fishes with limited predation have not yet been examined for the presence of epithelial club cells, possibly due to rarity of this phenomenon.

Desert fishes found in the American southwest evolved in allopatric populations with limited predation pressure by other fishes for upwards of 10,000 years (Soltz and Naiman, 1978;

Minckley and Deacon, 1968; Pister 1974). Enormous population declines and extirpation of various desert fishes coincided with numerous introductions of predatory invasive species, such as western mosquitofish (*Gambusia* affinis) and red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) (Miller 1961; Miller et al. 1989; Minckley and Deacon 1968; Cox and Lima 2006; Sih et al. 2011). One suggestion for the vulnerability of isolated species to invasive species is the hypothesized loss of antipredator behaviors due to relaxed predation pressures. I previously tested two desert fishes for behavioral responses to alarm cue substances and found none (chapter 2). Here, we extend that study to evaluate prevalence and densities of epithelial club cells among select desert fishes, comparing these measures to those of two well-studied cyprinid species.

Outside of the Ostariophysian fishes, little is known about club cells. The aim of this study was to determine the status of club cells in several taxa of desert fishes; four species in the order Cyprinodontiformes: Pahrump poolfish (*Empetrichthys latos*), Amargosa pupfish (*Cyprinodon nevadensis amargosae*), White Sands pupfish (*Cyprinodon tularosa*), and White River springfish (*Crenichthys baileyi*). There was one desert fish species in the Cypriniformes: Hot Creek Valley tui chub (*Siphateles bicolor ssp.*). To provide a baseline for this study, I also sampled two additional members of the Cypriniformes, fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*) and zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) as these two species are known to possess both club cells and behavioral responses to club cell containing skin extracts (Smith 1992; Wisenden and Smith 1998; Chivers et al. 2007). The limited alarm reactions to skin-extract by the two desert fishes examined in Chapter 2 led me to predict that these desert fishes would have low club cell prevalence and densities relative to fathead minnows and zebrafish. To make this comparison, I standardized a protocol for quantifying club cells in fish skin.

3.3. Materials and Methods

3.3.1. Population Sources

Pahrump poolfish were obtained from two populations: Spring Mountain Ranch near Las Vegas, NV (36°04'16.9"N 115°27'13.7"W) in 2014 and Shoshone Spring near Ely, NV (38°56'21.8"N 114°25'04.6"W) in 2017. White River springfish were descended from fish collected at Moapa Warm Springs near Moapa, NV (36°44'12.2"N 114°44'20.5"W) in 2012. Amargosa pupfish were collected in 2017 from a non-native population at River Springs (Mono County; 37° 56' 15.0" N; 118° 36' 44.8" W) This population was established in 1940 by Robert Rush Miller using fish from two pupfish species; 350 *C. n. amargosae* from the Amargosa River and 425 *C. salinus* from Salt Creek, Death Valley National Monument (Miller 1968). The River Springs population was genetically descended from *C. n. amargosae* (Steve Parmenter, California Department of Fish and Game, pers. Comm.). Hot Creek Valley tui chubs were collected in 2017 near Tonopah, Nye County, NV (32°11'03.8"N 116°09'06.9"W).

White Sands pupfish were collected and preserved in 2006 from an experimental pond on Holloman Air Force Base, Otero County, NM (32°49'25.2"N 106°06'46.6"W). This population was established in 2001 using 200 fish from native Salt Creek population of *C. tularosa* (Collyer et al. 2007). Fathead minnows were obtained from Scheels® Sporting Goods in Fargo, ND. Zebrafish were acquired from EkkWill Waterlife Resources in Ruskin, FL.

3.3.2. Sample Preparation

Fish were sacrificed using a lethal doseage of MS-222 (~500 mg/L; IACUC protocol #A15072) and a 3-4mm section of skin was taken from the nape. Sample sizes for each species varied from 6 to 30 individuals; Pahrump poolfish (n = 29), Amargosa pupfish (n = 28), White

Sands pupfish (n = 30), and White River springfish (n = 10), zebrafish (n = 10), fathead minnows (n = 10), and Hot Creek Valley tui chubs (n = 6).

Histological preparation followed protocols previously used by Chivers et al (2007). Briefly, samples were fixed in 10% formalin solution for 24 h in preparation for sectioning and staining. After setting in parafilm for 8 h, samples were stained with periodic acid Schiff reagent and counterstained with hematoxylin (PAS-H). Samples were then thin sliced and mounted on slides. These slides were digitally scanned using a MoticEasyScan slide scanner at 40X, high definition magnification.

3.3.3. Statistical Analyses

Prevalence of samples displaying at least one club cell were tested using chi-square contingency tables to test for i) species x club cell presence, ii) order x club cell presence. Using Image-Pro Premier®, the area of epithelial tissue was calculated with smart segment digital tool and the number of visible club cells recorded for each sample. These data were used to estimate club cell density per mm² of skin per fish. We tested for inter-specific difference in club cell densities by including only individuals with at least one club cell.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Prevalence

Club cell prevalence varied widely among species, from 0% to 100% ($X^{2}_{1,6} = 57.7$, p < 0.001). This variation was largely driven by high variation between orders ($X^{2}_{1,1} = 52.3$, p < 0.001), with high prevalence for cyprinids (96.7% ± 3.3%) and low prevalence for cyprinodontids (16.3% ± 7.0%). Furthermore, there was nonsignificant variation within both cyprinids and cyprinodontids ($X^{2}_{1,2} = 1.7$, p > 0.05; $x^{2}_{1,3} = 7.5$, p > 0.05, respectively). Club cells were observed in 90% of fathead minnows (n = 10) 100% of zebrafish (n = 10), and 100% of

Hot Creek Valley tui chub (n = 6) (Table 3.1; Fig. 3.1). By contrast, prevalence for the four cyprinodontiformes was notably lower: 33% of White Sands pupfish (n = 30), 21% of Pahrump poolfish (n = 29), 11% of Amargosa pupfish (n = 28), and 0% of White River springfish sampled (n = 10) (Table 3.1; Fig. 3.1).

3.4.2. Densities

Mean club cell densities (estimated number of club cells per mm² of skin) differed significantly among species ($F_{6,48} = 13.30$, p < 0.001) (Table 3.1). Hot Creek Valley tui chubs (313.7 ± 56.3, mean ± SE), zebrafish (310.4 ± 51.3), and fathead minnows (446.5 ± 100.3) were not statistically different ($F_{2,22} = 2.12$, p = 0.143) (Fig. 3.2). Similarly, club cell densities were not significantly different among the four Cyprinodontiformes sampled: Amargosa pupfish (1.03 ± 0.62), White Sands pupfish (17.1 ± 8.9), Pahrump poolfish (17.12 ± 7.4), and White River springfish (0.0 ± 0.0) ($F_{3,25} = 2.18$, p = 0.115) (Fig. 3.2). In general, fishes in the Cyprinodontiformes order had significantly lower densities than those in the Cypriniformes order ($F_{1,53} = 64.43$, p < 0.001). Notably, Hot Creek Valley tui chub had significantly more club cells than the other desert fishes ($F_{4,31} = 17.85$, p < 0.001) (Fig. 3.2).

				PREVALENCE	DENSITIES
COMMON NAME	SPECIES	ORDER	Ν	(%)	(Club cells / mm ² epithelial tissue)
Fathead minnows	Pimephales promelas	Cypriniformes	10	90	446.5 ± 100.3
Zebrafish	Danio rerio	Cypriniformes	10	100	310.4 ± 51.3
Hot Creek Valley tui chub	Siphateles bicolor ssp.	Cypriniformes	6	100	313.7 ± 56.3
White Sands pupfish	Cyprinodon tularosa	Cyprinodontiformes	30	33	17.1 ± 7.36
Pahrump poolfish	Empetrichthys latos	Cyprinodontiformes	29	21	17.1 ± 9.0
Amargosa pupfish	Cyprinodon nevadensis amargosae	Cyprinodontiformes	28	11	1.0 ± 0.6
White River Springfish	Crenichthys baileyi	Cyprinodontiformes	10	0	0.0 ± 0.0

Table 3.1. Number of samples (N), prevalence (%), and densities (mean \pm SE club cells / mm² of skin) per species.



Figure 3.1. Percentage prevalence of club cells by species for sample sizes reported in Table 3.1.



Figure 3.2. Mean \pm 1 SE club cell densities (club cells / mm² of skin) among taxa. Letters indicate statistically similar taxa.

3.5. Discussion

Epithelial club cell presence in fathead minnows and zebrafish was consistent with previous literature, serving as a positive control for methodology and club cell identification (Chivers et al 2007; Menke et al 2011). Hot Creek Valley tui chubs, an isolated desert cyprinid, displayed prevalence and densities statistically indistinguishable from zebrafish and fathead minnows, suggesting that club cell presence is driven by phylogenetic inertia (Pfeiffer 1977; Smith 1992).

For the four cyprinodontid species, prevalence varied from 0% - 33%, which was significantly lower than for the three cyprinid species (90% - 100%). I observed club cells for the three cyprinodontids that had better sampling (n = 28 - 30), but did not observe club cells for the more modestly sampled White River springfish (n = 10). Additional sampling is warranted to verify club cell absence in White River springfish.

Densities were calculated as club cells per mm² of epithelial tissue, similar to the reporting format used in other studies of epithelial histology (Srivastave et al. 1988; Warren et al. 1991; Patel et al. 2015; Norte Dos Santos 2018). For the three cyprinids sampled, the mean club cell density (373.4 club cells / mm² of skin) was more than an order of magnitude higher than for the four cyprinodontids (32.9 club cells / mm²). Higher density of club cells in cyprinids may increase concentration of alarm cues, resulting in the decreased vertical distribution response seen in zebrafish (Chapter 2). As stated before, club cells have been the hypothesized source for the alarm cues that elicit the responses. (Smith 1992). Low densities of club cells in cyprinodontids may decrease alarm cue concentrations, resulting in no responses to alarm cue seen in poolfish and pupfish (Chapter 2).

Both prevalence and density data suggest phylogeny may constrain club cell development. To evaluate phylogenetic patterns of club cell prevalence and densities, we surveyed the literature using the following key terms: alarm cue, club cells, epithelial, fishes, and skin. We found 31 citations that reported club cells for 40 of the 47 species, with club cells found in eight of the 11 orders evaluated (Table 3.2, Fig. 3.3).

For many studies, the number of individuals evaluated was not reported. For the seven species in the survey that lacked club cells, sampling was often modest (< 20 or unknown). For example, evaluation of club cells in five species of fish in the Characiformes found that four species had club cells (Junior et al. 2012; Alves et al. 2013; Camacho et al. 2016). However, the species reported as lacking club cells was based on a sampled size of only four individuals. Thus, club cells appear to be ubiquitous within fishes, but un-even and inadequate sampling make it difficult to detect evolutionary patterns.

Furthermore, club cell densities are not typically reported in the literature, making comparison difficult. Out of the 47 fish species evaluated, club cell densities were only reported for four species: fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*), johnny darter (*Etheostoma nigrum*), yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*), and North African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) (Guerra et al. 2006; Chivers et al. 2007). These studies reported densities as either mean number of club cells in epidermis per ocular diameter (400X) or as volumetric density of epidermis tissue (Guerra et al. 2006; Chivers et al. 2007). In contrast, I reported club cell densities as club cells / per mm² of skin per sample. Reporting densities as club cells / per mm² of skin is consistent with other epithelial tissue research, allowing for ease of cross-examination with other works.

My work has shown the importance of intensive sampling. In fact, prevalence as low as 11% were observed (Amargosa pupfish), but such species would be likely classified as lacking

club cells if they were not adequately sampled. A sample size of about 30 individuals would be a necessary threshold to confidently detect the presence of club cells when prevalence is near 10%. Our sampling has provided additional coverage, but has also demonstrated the importance of adequate sampling for assessing the presence or absence of club cells. To date, these finding suggest that club cells, rather than being a defining characteristic of Ostariophysian fishes, are broader in distribution. More intensive sampling will be necessary to evaluate if club cells have been lost in any taxa, including desert fishes such as the White River springfish.

Table 3.2. Fish orders, number of species examined (N), club cell prevalence within order (percentage of sampled species with club cells), and limited sampling (number of studies with less than 20 individuals or unreported sample sizes) reviewed from literature.

SUBCLASS and				LIMITED	
SUPERORDERS	ORDERS	Ν	PREVALENCE	SAMPLING	CITATION NUMBERS
SubCl Chondrostei	Polypteriformes	1	100	0	31
SubCl Neoptergyii					
Ostariophysi	Cypriniformes	12	100	11	3, 7, 10, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 28, 29, This Study
Ostariophysi	Characiformes	5	75	3	1, 4, 9, 11
Ostariophysi	Siluriformes	9	100	8	3, 6, 13, 14, 21, 24, 26, 27, 30, 32
Protacanthopertygii	Salmoniformes	2	50	2	22, 25
Protacanthopertygii	Ophidiiformes	1	100	1	32
Acanthopterygii	Cyprinodoniformes	7	72	5	3, 16, This Study
Acanthopterygii	Perciformes	5	100	3	3, 5, 19, 23
Acanthopterygii	Beloniformes	1	0	1	30
Acanthopterygii	Scorpaeniformes	2	0	2	7, 8
Acanthopterygii	Tetraodontiformes	1	100	1	27

(1.Alves et al. 2013; 2.Barreto et al. 2014; 3.Bryant 1986; 4.Camacho et al. 2016; 5.Chivers et al. 2007; 6.Gurrea et al. 2006; 7.Halacka et al. 2010; 8.Halacka et al. 2012; 9.Ide et al. 2003; 10.Irving 1996; 11.Junior and Hoffman 2007; 12.Junior et al. 2010; 13.Kumari et al. 2009; 14.Lizarazo et al. 2008; 15.Mathuru 2016; 16.Mokhtar 2015; 17.Pakk et al. 2011; 18.Pollock et al. 2012; 19.Putys et al. 2015; 20.Rakers et al. 2009; 21.Ralphs and Benjamin 1992; 22.Russell et al. 2008; 23.Sanches et al 2015; 24.Smith 2000; 25.Stabell and Vegusdal 2010; 26.Shiomi et al. 1988, 27.Thomson 1969; 28.Tripathi and Mittal 2010; 29.Tripathi et al. 2008; 30.Tsutsui et al. 2011; 31.Whitear 1981; 32.Zaccone et al. 1989)



Figure 3.3. Fish phylogeny depicting orders evaluated for club cell presence. Red boxes indicate orders with less than 100% prevalence and blue boxes indicate orders with 100% prevalence.

3.6. References

- Alves, R.M.S., Pereira, B.F., Pitol, D.L., Senhorini, J.A., Alcantara-Rocha, R.C.G., Caetano,
 F.H. 2013. Scale morphology of *Prochilodus lineatus* with emphasis on the scale
 epithelium. Brazilian Journal of Biology. **73**(3): 637-644.
- Barkhymer, A.J., Garrett, S.G., Wisenden, B.D. 2018. Olfactorily-mediated cortisol response to chemical alarm cues in zebrafish *Danio rerio*. Journal of Fish Biology. 1–6.
 - Barreto, R.E., Barbosa-Junior, A., Urbinati, E.C., Hoffmann, A. 2014. Cortisol influences the antipredator behavior induced by chemical alarm cues in the Frillfin goby. Hormones and Behavior. 65(4): 394-400.
 - Berger, S., Wikelski, M., Romero, L.M., Kalko, E.K.V., Rodl, T. 2007. Behavioral and physiological adjustments to new predator in an endemic island species, the Galapagos marine iguana. Hormones and Behavior. 52(5): 653-663.
 - Bryant, P.B. (1986) A study of the alarm system in selected fishes of northern Mississippi. Ph.D. thesis, University of Mississippi, MS.
 - Camacho, L.R., Morandini, L., Birba, A., Cavallino, L., Alonso, F. 2016. The pineal complex: a morphological and immunohistochemical comparison between a tropical (*Paracheirodon axelrodi*) and a subtropical (*Aphyocharax anisitsi*). Journal of Morphology. 277(10): 1355-1367.
 - Chivers, D.P., Smith, R.J.F. 1998. Chemical alarm signaling in aquatic predator-prey systems: A review and prospectus. Ecoscience. **5**(3): 338-352.
 - Chivers, D.P., Mirza, R., Johnston, J. 2002. Learned recognition of heterospecific alarm cues enhances survival during encounters with predators. Behaviour. **139**(7): 929-938.

- Chivers, D.P., Wisenden, B.D., Hindman, C.J., Michalak, T.A., Kusch, R.C., Kaminskyj,
 S.G.W., Jack, K.L., Ferrari, M.C.O., Pollock, R.J., Alemadi, S., James, C.T., Savaloja,
 R.K., Goater, C.P., Corwin, A., Mirza, R.S., Kiesecker, J.M., Brown, G.E., Adrian, J.C.,
 Krone, P.H., Blaustein, A.R., Mathis, A. 2007. Epidermal 'alarm substance' cells of
 fishes maintained by non-alarm functions: possible defense against pathogens, parasites,
 UVB radiation. Proceedings of the Royal Society B. 274(1625): 2611-2619.
- Collyer, M.L., Stockwell, C.A., Adams, D.C., Reiser, M.H. 2007. Phenotypic plasticity and contemporary evolution in introduced populations: evidence from translocated populations of white sands pupfish (*Cyprinodon tularosa*). Ecological Research. 22(6): 902-910.
- Cox, J.G., Lima, S.L. 2006. Naivete and an aquatic-terrestrial dichotomy in the effects of introduced predators. Trends in Ecology & Evolution. 21(12): 674-680.
- Dodson, S.I., Crowl, T.A., Peckarsky, B.L., Covich, A.P., Culp, J.M. 1994. Non-visual communication in freshwater benthos: an overview. Journal of North American Benthological Society. 13: 268–282.
- Doving, K.B., Lastein, S. 2009. The alarm reaction in fishes odorants, modulations of responses, neural pathways. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. **1170**(1).
 - Ferrari, M.C.O., Wisenden, B.D., Chivers, D.P. 2010. Chemical ecology of predator-prey interactions in aquatic ecosystems: a review and prospectus. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 88(7): 698-724.

- Guerra, R.R., Santos, N.P., Cecarelli, P., Mangetti, A.J., Silva, J.R.M.C., Hernandez-Blazquez,
 F.J. 2006. Stratum adiposum, a special structure of the African catfish skin (*Clarias gariepinus*, Burchell 1822). Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia. 35(3): 144-146.
- Halacka, K., Vetesnik, L., Papousek, I., Mendel, J., Slmkova, A. 2010. The epidermal structure of *Carassius gibelio*: a link with ploidy status in spawning and postspawning periods. Journal of Fish Biology. 77(9): 2171-2179.
- Halacka, K., Vitek, T., Vetesnik, L., Spurny, P. 2012. Epidermis structure and blood parameter differences between sculpin *Cottus gobio* and Siberian sculpin *Cottus poesilopus* from the Morava watershed. Folia Zoologica. 61(1): 9-16.
- Halbgewachs, C.F., Marchant, T.A., Kusch, R.C., Chivers, D.P. 2009. Epidermal club cells and the innate immune system of minnows. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society. 98: 891-897.
- Hintz, H.A., Weihing, C., Bayer, R., Lonzarich, D., Bryant, W. 2017. Cultured fish epithelial cells are a source of alarm substance. MethodsX. 4: 480-485.
- Ide, L.M., Urbinate, E.C., Hoffmann, A. 2003. The role of olfaction in the behavioural and physiological responses to conspecific skin extract in *Brycon cephalus*. Journal of Fish Biology. 63(2): 332-343.
- Irving, P.W. 1996. Sexual dimorphism in club cell distribution in the European minnow and immunocompetence signaling. Journal of Fish Biology. **48**(1): 80-88.
- Junior, A.B., Hoffman, A. 2007. Alarm reaction in a South American teleost fish piaucu Leporinus macrocephalus. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A. **148**: S39

- Junior, A.B., Magalhaes, E.J., Hoffmann, A., Ide, L.M. 2010. Conspecific and heterospecific alarm substance induces behavioral responses in piau fish *Leporinus piau*. Acta Ethologica. 13(2): 119-126.
- Junior, A.B., Alves, F.L., Pereira, A.S.F., Ide, L.M., Hoffmann, A. 2012. Behavioral characterization of alarm reaction and anxiolytic-like effect of acute treatment with fluoxetine in piauçu fish. Physiology & Behavior. 105(3): 784-790.
- Kristensen, E.A., Closs, G.P. 2004. Anti-predator response of naïve and experienced common bully to chemical alarm cues. Journal of Fish Biology. **64**(3): 643-652.
- Kumari, U., Yashpal, M., Mittal, S., Mittal, A.K. 2009. Histochemical analysis of glycoproteins in the secretory cells in the gill epithelium of a catfish, *Rita rita* (Siluriformes, Bagridae). Tissue and Cell. 41(4): 271-280.
- Lizarazo, R. J. B., M. Q. Virguez, E. G. Ramírez, D. R. Caicedo, H. H. Giraldo. 2008. Histología y morfometría de piel del pez Eremophilus mutisii (Trichomycteridae, Siluriformes).Revista de Biologia Tropical. 56(2): 885-893.
- Mathis, A., Smith, R.J.F. 1993. Intraspecific and cross-superorder responses to chemical alarm signals by brook stickleback. Ecology. **74**(8): 2395-2404.
- Menke, A.L., Spitsbergen, J.M., Wolterbeek, A.P.M., Woutersen, R.A. 2011. Normal anatomy and histology of the adult zebrafish. Toxicologic Pathology. **39**(5): 759-775.
- Meuthen, D., Baldauf, S.A., Bakker, T.C., Thunken, T. 2016. Predator-induced neophobia in juvenile cichlids. Oecologia. **181**(4): 947-958.
- Miller, R. R., 1961. Speciation rates of some fresh-water fishes of western North America. Vertebrate speciation. Univ. Texas Press, Austin, TX. pp. 537-560.

- Miller, R.R. 1968. Records of some native freshwater fishes transplanted into various waters of California, Baja California, and Nevada. Californian Fish and Game. **54**(3): 170-179.
- Miller, R.R., Williams, J.D., Williams, J.E. 1989. Extinctions of North American fishes during the past century. Fisheries. **14**(6): 22-38.
- Minckley, W.L., Deacon, J.E. 1968. Southwestern fishes and the enigma of "endangered species". Science. **159**(3822): 1424-1432.
- Mokhtar, D. 2015. Comparative structural organization of skin in red-tail shark
 (*Epalzeorhynchos bicolor*) and guppy (*Poecilia Reticulata*). Journal of Aquaculture
 Research and Development. 6(6): 1-8.
- Nelson, J.S., Grande, T.C., Wilson, M.V.H. Fishes of the World, 5th Edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ.
- Norte Dos Santos, CDC. 2018. Comparative histopathology of mucosa associated lymphoid tissue in the gills of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* and southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*. Ph.D. thesis, Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies, University of Tasmania.
- Pakk, P., Hussar, P., Jarveots, T., Paaver, T. 2011. Club cells active role in epidermal regeneration after skin hyperplasia of koi carp *Cyprinus carpio*. AACL. Bioflux. 4(4): 455-462.
- Patel, A.S., Song, J.W., Chu, S.G., Mizumura, K., Osorio, J.C., Shi., Y., El-Chemaly, S., Lee,
 C.G., Rosas, I.O., Elias, J.A., Choi, A.M.K., Morse, D. 2015. Epithelial cell
 mitochondrial dysfinction and PINK1 are induced by transforming growth Factor-Beta1
 in pulmonary fibrosis. PLoS one.

Pfeiffer, W. 1962. The fright of fish. Biological Reviews. 37(4): 495-511.

- Pfeiffer, W. 1977. The distribution of fright reaction and alarm substance cells in fishes. Copeia. **1977**(4): 653-665.
- Pister, E.P. 1974. Desert fishes and their habitats. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society. **103**(3): 531-540.
- Pollock, R.J., Pollock, M.S., Ferrari, M.C.O., Kaminskyj, S.G.W., Chivers, D.P. 2012. Do fathead minnows, *Pimephalse promelas* Rafinesque, alter their club cell investment in responses to variable risk of infection from *Saprolegnia*? Journal of Fish Diseases. **35**(4): 249-254.
- Putys, Z., Lozys, L., Buda, V. 2015. Respiratory response to the chemical cues of injured conspecifics and histology of skin in round goby, *Neogobius melanostomus*.
 (Actinopterygii: Perciformes: Gobiidae). Acta Ichthyologica et a Piscatoria. 45(4): 411-415.
- Rakers, S., Bebert, M., Uppalapati, S., Meyer, W., Maderson, P., Sell, A.F., Cruse, C., Paus, R.
 2009. 'Fish matter': the relevance of fish skin biology to investigative dermatology.
 Experimental Dermatology. 19(4): 313-324.
- Ralphs, J.R., Benjamin, M. 1992. Chondroitin and keratan sulphate in the epidermal club cells of teleosts. Journal of Fish Biology. 40(3): 473-475.
- Roemer, G.W., Donlan, C.J., Courchamp, F. 2002. Golden eagles, feral pigs, and insular carnivores: How exotic species turn native predators into prey. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99(2): 791-796.

- Russell, S., Young, K.M., Smith, M., Hayes, M.A., Lumsden, J.S. 2008. Identification, cloning and tissue localization of a rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) intelectin-like protein that binds bacteria and chitin. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 25(1/2): 91-105.
- Sanches, F.H.C., Miyai, C.A., Pinho-Neto, C.F., Barreto, R.E. 2015. Stress responses to chemical alarm cues in Nile tilapia. Physiology & Behavior. **149**(1): 8-13.
- Shiomi, K., Takamiya, M., Yamanaka, H., Kikuchi, T., Suzuki, Y. 1988. Toxins in the skin secretion of the oriental catfish (*Plotosus lineatus*): immunological proterties and immunocytochemical identification of producing cells. Toxicon. 26(4): 353-361.
- Sih, A., Ferrari, M.C.O., Harris, D.J. 2011. Evolution and behavioural responses to humaninduced rapid environmental change. Evolutionary Applications. **4**(2): 367-387.
- Smith, R.J.F. 1992. Alarm signals in fishes. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries. 2(1): 33-63.
- Smith, M.E. 2000. Alarm response of *Arius felis* to chemical stimuli from injured conspecifics. Journal of Chemical Ecology. 26(7): 1635-1647.
- Soltz, D.L., Naiman, R.J. 1978. The natural history of native fishes in the Death Valley system. Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, Los Angeles C.A.
- Srivastava, A., Laidler, P., Davies, R.P., Horgan, K., Hughes, L.E. 1988. The prognostic significance of tumor vascularity in intermediate-thickness (0.76-4.0 mm thick) skin melanoma. A quantitative histologic study. Am. J. Pathol. 133(2): 419-423.
- Stabell, O.B., Vegusdal, A. 2010. Socializing makes thick-skinned individuals: on the density of epidermal alarm substance cells in cyprinid fish, the Crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*). Journal of Comparative Physiology A. **196**(9): 639-647.

- Stensmyr, M.C., Maderspacher, F. 2012. Pheromones: fish fear factor. Current Biology. **22**(6): R183-R186.
- Thomson, D.A. 1969. Toxic stress secretions of the boxfish *Ostrcion Meleagris* Shaw. Copeia. **1969**(2): 335-352.
- Tripathi, P., Mittal, A.K. 2010. Essence of keratin in lips and associated structures of a freshwater fish *Puntius sophore* in relation to its feeding ecology: Histochemistry and scanning electron microscope investigation. Tissue and Cell. **42**(4): 223-233.
- Triphathi, P., Mittal, S., Mittal, A.K. 2007. Glycoproteins in the epithelium of lips and associated structures of a hill stream fish *Garra iamta* (Cyrpinidae, Cyrpiniformes): a histochemical investigation. Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia. **37**(2): 101-113.
- Tsutsui, S., Komatsu, Y., Sugiura, T., Araki, K., Nakamura, O. 2011. A unique epidermal mucus lectin identified from catfish (*Silurus asotus*): first evidence of intelectin in fish skin slime. The Journal of Biochemistry. **150**(5): 501-514.
- von Frisch, K. (1938) Zur psychologie des Fisch-Schwarmes. Naturwissenschaften. 26: 601-606.
- Warren, R., Gartstein, V., Kligman, A.M., Montagna, W., Allendorf, R.A., Ridder, G.M. 1991.
 Age, sunlight, and facial skin: A histologic and quantitative study. Journal of the
 American Academy of Dermatology. 25(5): 751-760.
- Whitear, M. 1981. Secretion in the epidermis of polypteriform fish. Zeitschrift fur Mikroskopisch-anatomische Forschung. **95**(4): 531-543.
- Wisenden, B.D. 2015. Chemical cues that indicate risk of predation. *In* Fish Pheromones and Related Cues. *Edited by* P.W. Sorensen, B.D. Wisenden. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Ames, IA.

- Wisenden, B.D., Smith, R.J.F. 1998. A re-evaluation of the effect of shoalmate familiarity on the proliferation of alarm cells in ostariophysan fishes. Journal of Fish Biology. 53(4): 841-846.
- Zaccone, G., Taliafierro, G., Goniakowska-Witalinska, L., Fasulo, S, Ainis, L., Mauceri, A. 1989. Serotonin-like immunoreactive cells in the pulmonary epithelium of ancient fish species. Histochemistry. 92(1): 61-63.

4. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The susceptibility of desert fishes to predatory invasive species has consequences for their survival. Loss of antipredator traits can make species more vulnerable, similar to isolated terrestrial systems and relaxed antipredator responses (Roemer et al. 2002; Berger et al. 2007). Behavioral evidence here suggests that isolated desert fishes may have lost response to injuryreleased chemical alarm cues, which is closely associated with predatory avoidance and survivorship. However, data on development of epithelial club cells, the hypothesized source of chemical alarm cues for other fishes, suggests phylogeny may over-ride evolutionary naïvete. Additional sampling will be informative, as species such as pupfish and tui chubs appear to be able to co-persist with invasive species whereas others such as Poeciliopsis and Pahrump poolfish have not. Unfortunately, population declines are likely without aggressive management against invasive species and monitoring of desert fishes.

Future research should broaden this research to other desert fishes in the American southwest to verify the generality of these findings. Earlier detection and plasticity of this detrimental aspect of desert fish ecology will lead to improved management tactics or even persistence of populations.

APPENDIX A. PHYSIOLOGICAL STRESS RESPONSES TO ALARM CUES IN ZEBRAFISH (DANIO RERIO)

A.1. Methods

A.1.1. Rearing

Zebrafish were obtained from EkkWill Waterlife Resources and housed in densities of 10 individuals per 38L tank. Tanks were equipped with sponge filters. Fish were fed a diet of commercial flake food and supplemented with newly hatched brine shrimp nauplii twice per week. Temperature was maintained at approximately 22^oC with a photoperiod of 12 h light : 12 h dark.

A.1.2. Experimental Set Up

Twelve 38-L glass aquaria fitted with glass lids were placed on metal racks under broadspectrum fluorescent lights and maintained on a photoperiod of 12 h light : 12 h dark photoperiod. Each tank contained an air-powered sponge filter with an addition 2.5 m length of airline tubing inserted into the outflow of the filter to serve as a way to deliver test cues surreptitiously. The delivery tube was secured to the metal rack to prevent movement during trials and allowed to hang below the level of the rack, out of view from the test subjects. Black plastic was placed between tanks to eliminate social influence of fish by adjacent tanks. No viewing screens were used as zebrafish did not show overt response to human presence and the length of the delivery tubes allowed for remote injections of test cues without test subject-human interactions.

Zebrafish required two individuals per trial tank to achieve pre-stimulus behavior for testing (Barkhymer et al 2018). Each pair of test fish were acclimated for 24 h in an experimental
tank and randomly assigned as either alarm cue or control. Experimental fish were fed commercial flake food 60-75 min before trials began. For each trial, 50 mL of tank water were withdrawn from the hanging end of the delivery tube with a 60 mL syringe and discarded to remove possible contaminants from the delivery tube. An additional 50 mL of tank water was drawn and retained to be used later to flush test stimuli from the delivery tube. Either control water or conspecific chemical alarm cue was introduced to the tank through the delivery tube, followed by the 50 mL flush of the previously-retained tank water. After a 5-min. post-stimulus period, fish were euthanized in solution of MS-222 (~500 mg/L; IACUC protocol #A15072) and frozen in 50mL glass vials. Each aliquot represented a replicate.

A.1.3. Cortisol Extraction

Whole-body cortisol extraction was adapted from Canavello et al. (2011). Individual fish were partially thawed, weighed to the nearest 0.01mg, minced, and homogenized in 1mL of icecold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) using a Cole-Parmer LabGen 125 homogenizer in 5 x 15s bursts followed by homogenizer wash with an additional 2 x 1 mL PBS. The homogenate and washes were combined and extracted with 5, 3 mL volumes of diethyl ether. The resulting solution was cortex-mixed for 1 min then centrifuged at 2075 g for 5 min to separate aqueous and ether layers. The upper ether layers containing cortisol were removed and combined. Ether extracts were evaporated in a fume hood overnight to near dryness. Samples from individual fish were reconstituted with 1 ml PBS for 24 h. All steps were carried out at 4 °C. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for human salivary cortisol (Salimetrics; www.salimetrics.com) modified for whole body *D. rerio* was used to quantify cortisol (Canavello et al. 2011). (www.biotek.com). Net absorbances were determined by subtracting non-specific binding values. Cortisol concentrations in 0.1 ml samples were determined by comparison to BB_0^{-1} (*i.e.*, net sample A450 per zero control A450) vs cortisol (0 – 3.0 µg dl⁻¹). All samples were assayed in triplicate and resultant cortisol levels were normalized based on fish mass and expressed as ng cortisol g⁻¹ fish mass.

A.2. Results

Cortisol measurements were averaged per trial tank and reported as Ln [ng g⁻¹]. A mixed model was used to analyze the data. Average cortisol concentrations were approximately 50% higher in alarm cue exposed fish (1.54 \pm 0.15 Ln [ng g⁻¹ fish mass]; mean \pm SE) compared to control fish (0.97 \pm 0.18 Ln [ng g⁻¹ fish mass]) (F_{1,48} = 5.84, p = 0.019, Fig. A.1).



Figure A.1. Mean \pm 1 SE of whole-body cortisol extractions for zebrafish in each treatment type (alarm cue vs control) are shown.

A.3. References

Barkhymer, A.J., Garrett. S.G. Wisenden, B.D. 2018. Olfactorily-mediated cortisol response to

chemical alarm cues in zebrafish Danio rerio. Journal of Fish Biology. 1-6.

Canavello, P.R., Cachat, J.M., Beeson, E., Laffoon, A.L., Grimes, C., Haymore, W., Elegante,
M.F., Bartels, B.K., Hart, P.C., Elkhayat, S.I., Tien, D.H., Mohnot, S., Amri, H., Kalueff,
A.V. 2011. Measuring endocrine (cortisol) response of zebrafish to stress. Zebrafish
Neurobehavioral Protocols, Neuromethods. 51: 135-142.

APPENDIX B. CLUB CELL DENSITY COMPARISON BETWEEN WILD-TYPE AND LAB-REARED FATHEAD MINNOWS (PIMEPHALES PROMELAS) B.1. Methods

B.1.1. Rearing

Wild-type fathead minnows were obtained from Scheels®, and caught in local water sources around Fargo, ND. Lab-reared fathead minnows were obtained from U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in Duluth, MN. Each group were housed in sets of eight in 38L tanks with airstones for aeration. Fish were fed a diet of commercial flake food. Temperature was maintained at approximately 22^oC with a photoperiod of 12 h light : 12 h dark.

B.1.2. Sample Preparation and Analysis

Fish were sacrificed using a lethal doseage of MS-222 (~500 mg/L; IACUC protocol #A15072) and a 3-4mm section of skin was taken from the nape. Sample sizes consisted of 10 wild-type and lab-reared individuals.

Histological preparation followed protocols previously used by Chivers et al (2007). Briefly, samples were fixed in 10% formalin solution for 24 h in preparation for sectioning and staining. After setting in parafilm for 8 h, samples were stained with periodic acid Schiff reagent and counterstained with hematoxylin (PAS-H). Samples were then thin sliced and mounted on slides. These slides were digitally scanned using a MoticEasyScan slide scanner at 40X, high definition magnification. Prevalence and club cell densities (club cells/ mm² of epithelial tissue) were calculated. Club cell densities were analyzed using a non-parametric Mann Whitney U test.

B.2. Results

Overall prevalence, number of sampled displaying at least one club cell, was 90% for wild-type fathead minnows and 100% for lab-reared fathead minnows. Club cell density for wild-type fathead minnows (446.52 ± 100.31 club cells / mm² epithelial tissue; mean \pm SE) was significantly lower than club cell density for lab-reared fathead minnows (839.18 ± 141.11) (F_{1,8} = 5.144, p = 0.036; Fig. B.1).



Figure B.1. Mean \pm 1 SE comparison of club cell density per mm² of epithelial tissue between wild-type and lab-reared fathead minnows is shown.

B.3. References

Chivers, D.P., Wisenden, B.D., Hindman, C.J., Michalak, T.A., Kusch, R.C., Kaminskyj,

S.G.W., Jack, K.L., Ferrari, M.C.O., Pollock, R.J., Alemadi, S., James, C.T., Savaloja,

R.K., Goater, C.P., Corwin, A., Mirza, R.S., Kiesecker, J.M., Brown, G.E., Adrian, J.C.,

Krone, P.H., Blaustein, A.R., Mathis, A. 2007. Epidermal 'alarm substance' cells of

fishes maintained by non-alarm functions: possible defense against pathogens, parasites,

UVB radiation. Proceedings of the Royal Society B. 274(1625): 2611-2619.

additional help.